IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

On Appeal from the Twentieth Judicial Circuit of Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew Lawry Florida Bar No. 042943 Volunteer Lawyers' Post-Conviction Defender Organization Post Office Box 37039 Tallahassee, FL 32315 (904) 681-0250

Robert Josefsberg Florida Bar No. 040856 Podhurst Orseck Josefsberg City National Bank Building 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Fl 33130 (305) 358-2800

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Lambrix's motion for post-conviction relief, brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court summarily denied Mr. Lambrix's claims.

Citations in this brief shall be as follows: The record on direct appeal will be referred to as "R. ___." The record on appeal from the denial of the first Rule 3.850 motion will be referred to as "PR. ___." The record from the court below in the instant action will be cited as "ROA ___." "T." followed by a date refers to the transcript of Mr. Lambrix's first trial. "App." followed by a number refers to the Appendix to the Rule 3.850 motion. "App." followed by a letter refers to the Appendix to this brief. All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings

This is an appeal of the summary denial of Cary Michael Lambrix's motion to vacate his convictions and death sentence, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

Mr. Lambrix was indicted on two counts of first degree murder on March 29, 1983. His first trial before a Glades County jury ended with the declaration of a mistrial on December 17, 1983, when the jury failed to reach a verdict after deliberating for some eleven hours. His second trial commenced on February 20, 1984. The retrial jury found Mr. Lambrix guilty on both counts of the indictment on February 24, 1984.

The penalty phase of Mr. Lambrix's trial was held on February 27, 1984. Family members provided limited testimony concerning his good character and conduct as a child. Mr. Lambrix did not testify at either the guilt or penalty phases of the trial. A majority of the jury recommended death with regard to both convictions. On March 22, 1984, the circuit court imposed two sentences of death.

Mr. Lambrix appealed his convictions and sentences of death to this Court, which upheld both convictions and sentences. Lambrix v. State, 494 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 1986). No issues as to the propriety of the death sentences were briefed or argued.

On September 29, 1987, Mr. Lambrix filed a <u>pro se</u> petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court, alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Mr. Lambrix also filed numerous <u>pro se</u> motions with the circuit court seeking to dismiss the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) as his counsel on the

grounds that CCR was, and would be, incapable of providing effective representation. On December 9, 1987, Judge Elmer Friday denied Mr. Lambrix's pro se motions, finding that Mr. Lambrix was legally mandated to accept representation by CCR counsel. App. A. CCR supplemented Mr. Lambrix's pro se habeas petition, and on August 18, 1988, this Court denied relief. Lambrix v. Dugger, 529 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 1988).

On September 28, 1988, then-Governor Bob Martinez signed a death warrant against Mr. Lambrix, scheduling his execution for November 30, 1988. On October 27, 1988, Mr. Lambrix filed a Rule 3.850 motion in circuit court. In the motion, Mr. Lambrix's CCR counsel stated that they were unable to effectively prepare and litigate his case under the circumstances of multiple death warrants, and requested additional time to allow them to represent him effectively. PR. 10-12, (3.850 Motion at 10-12). The circuit court summarily denied relief. Mr. Lambrix then sought an emergency stay of execution from this Court, which denied relief by a vote of 4-3. Lambrix v. State, 534 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 1988).

While still under death warrant, Mr. Lambrix filed his first and only federal habeas corpus petition in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida on November 30, 1988. The court stayed the execution pending review. Several months later, Mr. Lambrix moved the federal courts for removal of CCR as his counsel, and requested substitute counsel. Following a hearing, on May 1, 1989, the court granted CCR's motion to withdraw and the court appointed replacement counsel.

In August, 1991, the District Court provided Mr. Lambrix with an evidentiary hearing limited to specific issues. On May 12, 1992, the court denied all relief requested, and Mr. Lambrix appealed to the Eleventh Circuit. In February, 1993, the State of Florida filed a motion with the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, requesting a stay of proceedings to allow Mr. Lambrix to return to the state courts for exhaustion of an issue brought pursuant to Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S. Ct 2926 (1992). On March 3, 1993, the Eleventh Circuit granted the State's motion, directing Mr. Lambrix to return to state court to litigate any claims under Espinosa. Mr. Lambrix filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court, which was denied on June 16, 1994. Lambrix v. Singletary, 641 So.2d 847 (Fla. 1994).

On September 29, 1994, Mr. Lambrix moved the Eleventh Circuit to hold further proceedings on his federal appeal in abeyance to permit him to file and receive review of a Rule 3.850 motion in the state trial court. He proceeded to file his Rule 3.850 motion, which is the subject of the instant appeal, on October 7, 1994. On October 17, 1994, the Eleventh Circuit denied his motion to hold proceedings in abeyance. On January 3, 1996, the Eleventh Circuit denied relief. A petition for rehearing will be filed shortly.

On November 3, 1994, the court below ordered the State to respond to Mr. Lambrix's Rule 3.850 motion. After an extension was agreed to, the State filed its response on February 22, 1995. Without permitting any reply by Mr. Lambrix or taking any argument,

Chief Judge Thomas S. Reese of the Twentieth Judicial Circuit denied the Rule 3.850 motion, and this appeal followed.

Disposition in the Court Below

The court below ruled that the Rule 3.850 motion was untimely and that Mr. Lambrix had failed to show that he was entitled to any of the exceptions to Rule 3.850's time limitations. ROA 524. The court also found without specifying that some of the claims raised in the Rule 3.850 motion were successive and others were abusive. Id. Finally, without stating any reasoning or attaching any portions of the record, the court below found that the "claims raised in the motion are without substantive merit in addition to being procedurally barred." ROA 524-25. The court below did not make any factual findings, and stated its legal conclusions in a terse and entirely conclusory fashion.

Given the nature of the disposition of the case in the court below, the relevant facts in this case relate primarily to whether Mr. Lambrix is entitled to one or more exceptions to the procedural bar found by the court below. Those facts were alleged in the Rule 3.850 motion and must be accepted as true in this Court. Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069, 1074 (Fla. 1995) (allegations stating prima facie case require hearing); Montgomery v. State, 615 So.2d 226 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (allegations must be accepted as true unless conclusively rebutted). The facts are numerous and complex, and for that reason they are discussed in the body of the brief as they relate to the claims presented.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court below summarily denied relief on all of Mr. Lambrix's claims on the grounds that they were procedurally barred as untimely and successive or abusive. ROA 524. Mr. Lambrix pled below and can establish, when given the opportunity, four separate and sufficient bases for excusing any procedural bar. Because Mr. Lambrix set forth legally sufficient grounds to overcome any procedural default, the court below erred in failing at a minimum to hold an evidentiary hearing to determine whether he had established an exception to the procedural bar. See, e.g., Steinhorst v. State, 636 So.2d 498, 500-501 (Fla. 1994); McGuffey v. State, 515 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

Because the court below simply denied the merits of Mr. Lambrix's claims and failed to attach or even cite any portions of the record to support its denial of relief, it never appropriately addressed the merits of Mr. Lambrix's claims, and this case should be remanded in order for the trial court to make the initial evaluation of his claims on the merits. See Parker v. Dugger, 660 So. 2d 1386, 1389 (Fla. 1995).

Should this Court nevertheless proceed to the merits, it is clear that Mr. Lambrix has alleged facts establishing violations of his constitutional rights, and that nothing in the record conclusively refutes those allegations. The alleged violations include the violation of his fundamental right to testify in his own defense; the violation of his right to the effective assistance of trial counsel as a result of the failure to adequately cross-

examine key state witnesses, failure to investigate and present a voluntary intoxication defense, failure to conduct voir dire competently, failure to investigate and present mitigating evidence, and failure to object to unconstitutionally vague instructions on aggravating circumstances; the trial court's erroneous and arbitrary finding of the pecuniary gain aggravating factor; and the trial court's failure to conduct an adequate and independent evaluation of the mitigation presented by Mr. Lambrix. Because the "files and records in [this] case" do not "conclusively show that [Mr. Lambrix] is entitled to no relief," this Court should remand the case for an evidentiary hearing on the merits of his claims. Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986).

ARGUMENT I

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN DENYING MR. LAMBRIX'S CLAIMS SUMMARILY, WITHOUT HEARING ARGUMENT, HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, OR ATTACHING PORTIONS OF THE RECORD SUPPORTING SUMMARY DENIAL OF RELIEF

The Rule 3.850 motion alleged critical facts not presented at Mr. Lambrix's trial and sentencing. It also alleged facts establishing four grounds for excusing any procedural bar. The court below summarily denied relief on all of Mr. Lambrix's claims on the grounds that they were procedurally barred as untimely and successive or abusive. ROA 524. In so ruling, the court rejected without discussion the facts and argument set forth in Mr. Lambrix's motion demonstrating that no procedural bar should be applied. The court below summarily denied all claims without holding an evidentiary hearing, although one had been requested,

and indeed without holding a hearing of any kind, or allowing any reply on the part of Mr. Lambrix.

Because Mr. Lambrix set forth legally sufficient grounds to overcome any procedural default, the court below erred in failing at a minimum to hold an evidentiary hearing to determine whether he had established an exception to the procedural bar. See, e.g., Steinhorst v. State, 636 So.2d 498, 500-501 (Fla. 1994); (remanding for hearing on whether conflict could previously have been discovered by use of due diligence); McGuffey v. State, 515 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (hearing required where motion alleges facts bringing motion within exception to time limitation). On the merits, because the "files and records in [this] case" do not "conclusively show that [Mr. Lambrix] is entitled to no relief," this Court should remand the case for an evidentiary hearing. Lemon v. State, 498 So.2d 923 (Fla. 1986).

The court below discussed the merits of Mr. Lambrix's claims in only the most cursory fashion. In contravention of Rule 3.850 and Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990), the court failed to attach or even cite any portions of the record to support a finding that the record conclusively established that Mr. Lambrix was not entitled to relief. Because it failed to do so, it never appropriately addressed the merits of Mr. Lambrix's claims, and this case should be remanded in order for the trial court to make

¹Under <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982, 983 (Fla. 1993), the court below was required to give Mr. Lambrix an opportunity to be heard before denying his motion. The court's failure to do so violated due process and requires that this case be remanded.

the initial evaluation of his claims on the merits. <u>Parker v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 660 So. 2d 1386, 1389 (Fla. 1995).

ARGUMENT II

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING RELIEF ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE RULE 3.850 MOTION WAS UNTIMELY AND SUCCESSIVE

A. <u>Because Mr. Lambrix was Deprived of His Right to Represent Himself in the Proceedings on the Initial Motion, the Instant Motion Was not Untimely or Successive</u>

In Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), the Supreme Court recognized that competent defendants have the right to waive counsel and represent themselves, if they choose. In <u>Durocher v. Singletary</u>, 623 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1993), this Court held that the <u>Faretta</u> right applies to waiver of the statutory right to collateral counsel established by § 27.7001, et seq., Fla. Stat. The right established in <u>Durocher</u> was clearly violated in the proceedings on Mr. Lambrix's first Rule 3.850 motion. Under the unique circumstances of this case, <u>Durocher</u> should be retroactively applied and this Court should "overlook" any procedural default because of the <u>Durocher</u> violation. <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 660 So.2d 1386, 1388 (Fla. 1995) (overlooking procedural default on second Rule 3.850 motion with regard to ineffective assistance claims where trial counsel filed first Rule 3.850 motion); <u>Breedlove v. Singletary</u>, 595 So.2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992) (same).

There can be no question that Mr. Lambrix's rights under Faretta and <u>Durocher</u> were violated in the proceedings on the initial Rule 3.850 motion. In October 1987, Mr. Lambrix moved the circuit court to remove CCR as his counsel and to permit him to

represent himself. In support of the motion, Mr. Lambrix asserted unable to provide effective and adequate representation, given their caseload and numerous warrants; that he was competent; and that he was willing and able to represent himself. On December 9, 1987, the circuit court held a hearing on Mr. Lambrix's motion. Mr. Lambrix appeared at the hearing and argued that CCR could not provide effective representation. CCR also appeared and argued that § 27.7001, et seq., Fla. Stat., mandate that all death-sentenced Florida prisoners be represented by an attorney in Rule 3.850 proceedings (an argument rejected by this Court in <u>Durocher</u>). App. B.

The circuit court issued its ruling that same day. It noted that Mr. Lambrix had argued that CCR was unable to provide him competent assistance:

In sum, the Defendant contends that the office of Capital Collateral Representative's ... caseload is so great that they are unable to render him the service and respect that his cause is entitled to, and that his welfare is jeopardized by their being his appellate counsel.

App. A. The court denied Mr. Lambrix's motion to dismiss CCR, holding that <u>Faretta</u> does not apply to post-conviction proceedings and that § 27.7001, et seq., Fla. Stat., <u>require</u> that a death-sentenced inmate be represented by CCR or other counsel. <u>Id</u>. at 2. That holding was clearly directly contrary to this Court's decision in <u>Durocher</u>, in which this Court stated:

Competent defendants have the constitutional right to refuse professional counsel and to represent themselves, or not, if they so choose. <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); <u>Hamblen v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1988). If the right to representation can be waived at trial, <u>we</u>

see no reason why the statutory right to collateral counsel cannot also be waived.

<u>Durocher</u>, 623 So.2d at 483 (emphasis added). The circuit court's ruling clearly violated Mr. Lambrix's right to represent himself, which is guaranteed by the United States and Florida Constitutions, and this Court's ruling in <u>Durocher</u>.

The only effective remedy for this violation is to permit Mr. Lambrix to do now what he should have been permitted to do in 1987 -- to use the procedure provided by Rule 3.850 to raise in a new, original motion, any applicable claims of violations of his constitutional rights at trial. When Faretta is violated at trial, the remedy is a new trial. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835-36; State v. Young, 626 So. 2d 655, 657 (Fla. 1993). By the same token, where as here Faretta and Durocher are violated in post-conviction proceedings, the remedy should be a new, original post-conviction proceeding. See Steinhorst v. State, 636 So.2d 498, 500-501 (Fla. 1994) (defendant may be entitled to new post-conviction proceeding).

Furthermore, the instant Rule 3.850 motion cannot be barred as untimely or successive since it merely places Mr. Lambrix in the same position that he would have been in the absence of the A State may not violation of his right to self-representation. apply a procedural bar that was only created by the State's own See Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488 (1986) (no action. impediments," including "external where bar procedural "'interference by officials' ... made compliance [with the There could be no clearer procedural rule] impracticable"). example of such an impediment to compliance with a rule than the

circuit court's order forbidding Mr. Lambrix to represent himself and requiring that CCR represent him.

In the court below, the State argued that Mr. Lambrix was required to raise the violation of his right to self-representation previously, apparently on the appeal of the denial of his initial Rule 3.850 motion. ROA 180, State's Response to Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentences of Death, at 3. The State does not explain, however, just how Mr. Lambrix could have raised the issue in that In the circuit court proceedings, CCR took the proceeding. position that he had no right to self-representation and that Florida law mandated that CCR represent him. App. B. Once CCR had taken that position in the circuit court, it was effectively precluded from switching back and arguing on appeal that Mr. Lambrix did, after all, have the right to represent himself and therefore the case should be remanded to effectuate that right. And since Mr. Lambrix had been precluded from representing himself, there was no way for him to raise the issue, especially since the appeal was conducted under death warrant. Thus, the actions of the circuit court and of CCR were clearly "external impediments" that prevented Mr. Lambrix from further attempting to assert his right to self-representation. Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. at 478.

Because CCR was precluded from raising the <u>Faretta</u> issue on direct appeal of the denial of the initial Rule 3.850 motion, this case is similar to <u>Parker</u> and <u>Breedlove</u>, <u>supra</u>. In those cases, the defendant was represented by the same attorney at trial and during a first Rule 3.850 proceeding. Because that attorney was

unable to assert a claim of ineffective assistance, this Court chose to "overlook the procedural default" as it related to such claims. Breedlove, 595 So.2d at 11. Similarly, to the extent that any procedural default is otherwise applicable here, this Court should "overlook" the default for the claims Mr. Lambrix was precluded from raising as a result of the denial of his right of self-representation.

On the other hand, to the extent that this Court should find that there was a requirement that CCR raise the <u>Faretta</u> violation on appeal in order to preserve the issue (despite the fact that CCR had affirmatively argued below that no such right existed), then clearly CCR's failure to raise that issue was ineffective. A violation of the right to self-representation is per se reversible error. <u>Dorman v. Wainwright</u>, 798 F.2d 1358, 1370 (11th Cir. 1986). Thus, failure to raise on appeal a <u>Faretta</u> violation that took place in trial court is clearly ineffective, as prejudice must be presumed. <u>Orazio v. Dugger</u>, 876 F.2d 1508, 1511 (11th Cir. 1989). Moreover, in subsequent proceedings raising the <u>Faretta</u> violation, the procedural default resulting from failure to raise the issue on direct appeal must be excused, since it resulted from the denial of the right to effective assistance of counsel on appeal. <u>Id</u>.

Furthermore, the denial of Mr. Lambrix's right to selfrepresentation in the initial Rule 3.850 proceedings was clearly

²Mr. Lambrix will demonstrate in Argument II, <u>Infra</u>, that he had a right to effective assistance of counsel by CCR. Here, he assumes <u>arguendo</u> the existence of such a right and demonstrates that the failure to raise the <u>Faretta</u> violation on appeal was deficient performance.

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