# FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 11 1996

CARY MICHAEL LAMBRIX,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Cliff Deputy Clerk

v.

Case No. 86,119

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR GLADES COUNTY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE** 

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's summary denial of the appellant's second motion for postconviction relief was proper in all respects. The appellant did not allege below and has not alleged here any newly discovered facts to permit the filing of an untimely, successive motion. Even if the facts alleged to support the appellant's assertion that he can establish an exception to any procedural bar are taken as true, they do not compel consideration of his claims as a matter of law.

Any claim regarding a denial of the appellant's right to represent himself in collateral proceedings has been waived, since no issue relating to the trial court's denial of the appellant's "Motion to Dismiss Counsel" in December, 1987, had ever been brought to any court until the instant 3.850 motion was filed in October, 1994, despite a multitude of postconviction actions filed *pro se* and by counsel during the intervening time. The appellant did not have a constitutional right to effective assistance of collateral counsel, but even if such a right is assumed for the sake of argument, his present claims of ineffectiveness are both procedurally barred and without merit. The state actions asserted to excuse any procedural default were all considered and rejected previously, and were not applicable when the appellant failed to develop these claims in federal court. The appellant cannot establish actual innocence as to either first degree murder or the death penalty.

In addition, even if the merits of the appellant's 3.850 claims are considered, no relief is warranted. As found by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, his claims are refuted by the record and by the testimony elicited at the federal evidentiary hearing.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN DENYING MR. LAMBRIX'S CLAIMS SUMMARILY, WITHOUT HEARING ARGUMENT, HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, OR ATTACHING PORTIONS OF THE RECORD SUPPORTING SUMMARY DENIAL OF RELIEF.

The appellant initially challenges the trial court's summary denial of his motion for postconviction relief. Specifically, the appellant alleges that the court below should have conducted an evidentiary hearing to allow him the opportunity to establish an exception to any procedural bar. However, an evidentiary hearing was not necessary in this case because the appellant's factual allegations, even if true, would not permit a court to excuse the appellant's procedural default of these claims. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to relief on this issue.

The appellant's brief cites <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993), in a footnote, claiming that the trial court should have at least given him an opportunity to be heard before summarily denying his motion. The footnote asserts that the failure to hold even a non-evidentiary hearing violated due process and requires a remand. It should be noted that the appellant never cited <u>Huff</u> to the court below or requested the opportunity to argue his motion in a non-evidentiary forum, and therefore has not preserved any such claim for appellate review. If the appellant truly believes the failure to hold a hearing pursuant to <u>Huff</u> amounted to a fundamental constitutional violation, it is curious that he would relegate such a significant claim to a footnote. At any rate, <u>Huff</u> was not violated in the instant case, since <u>Huff</u> mandates the

holding of a hearing on an *initial* motion for postconviction relief, see 622 So. 2d at 983, whereas this case is an appeal from the denial of a *successive* motion.

The appellant cites <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1994), and <u>McGuffey v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), in support of his claim that an evidentiary hearing should have been held below. These cases are distinguishable as they involved factual allegations that the claims could not have been timely discovered with the exercise of due diligence. For example, in <u>Steinhorst</u>, the defense contended that relevant records indicating an alleged potential conflict on the part of the postconviction judge had been misplaced by the clerk's office; if true, any conflict could not have been discovered with due diligence, and would constitute newly discovered evidence entitling Steinhorst to consideration of an otherwise untimely and successive postconviction motion. If, on the other hand, the relevant records were reasonably available, Steinhorst's failure to move to recuse the judge would be deemed to waive the issue. Thus, an evidentiary hearing was necessary in order to establish whether the records had been misplaced or were available.

In the instant case, the appellant has not alleged any facts which were not known at the time of the initial 3.850 motion. Furthermore, no factual dispute exists to warrant an evidentiary hearing. The state does not contest that Lambrix previously filed a motion to dismiss CCR as his collateral counsel and attempted to represent himself, or that the trial judge denied this motion. The state does not contest that, if given the opportunity, Lambrix could present his prior collateral counsel to testify in a manner consistent with his affidavit below: that he was working on other active warrants at the time the initial 3.850 motion was prepared; that he does not believe his representation of Lambrix was constitutionally adequate; and that he would have presented the

claims now offered if he had been given more time to investigate and prepare the 3.850 motion. The state does not contest that this Court and the trial court both denied requests for additional investigative time when the initial 3.850 was prepared and argued. The state does not contest that, if given the opportunity, Lambrix would take the stand and testify in accordance with his affidavit below that he is an innocent man. Rather, the state's position is that, even if true, the appellant's allegations do not establish as a matter of law that he is now entitled to consideration of an otherwise untimely and successive motion for postconviction relief. Because it is only the legal conclusions and not the factual allegations of the 3.850 motion that are in dispute, no evidentiary hearing was required below.

In addition, the appellant alleges that the court below erred in denying the 3.850 claims on their merits, since it did not attach or cite portions of the record which conclusively establish that Lambrix is not entitled to relief.<sup>2</sup> It must be noted initially that the order denying the 3.850 did attach the state's response to the motion, which incorporated exhibits including testimony taken pursuant to the evidentiary hearing held in federal court on the appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Because such testimony and specific record citations are included as part of the record on appeal in this proceeding, the dictates of <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990), requiring specific direction as to where in a record a postconviction claim is refuted, have been met in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Of course, this claim need only be considered if this Court agrees that the court below should not have denied the motion on procedural grounds, since this aspect of the appellant's argument is directed to the trial court's denial of the 3.850 claims on the merits.

On these facts, the appellant has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's summary denial of his second motion for postconviction relief.

#### **ISSUE II**

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING RELIEF ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE RULE 3.850 MOTION WAS UNTIMELY AND SUCCESSIVE.

The appellant next challenges the trial court's finding that his motion was untimely and successive. The appellant presents four grounds which allegedly excuse the procedural bars applied below. For the reasons that follow, none of these arguments demonstrate any error in the summary denial of the appellant's postconviction motion.

### A. Alleged deprivation of the appellant's right to represent himself

The appellant initially claims that he was unfairly denied the right to represent himself on his initial motion for postconviction relief, in violation of Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975), and Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993). He further argues that Durocher should be applied retroactively pursuant to Parker v. Dugger, 660 So. 2d 1386, 1388 (Fla. 1995) and Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992). He claims that his remedy must be the opportunity to file a new, original motion for postconviction relief, citing Steinhorst, 636 So. 2d 500-501.

None of the authorities cited by the appellant warrant ignoring the clear procedural bar that defeats his claims. In <u>Steinhorst</u>, this Court recognized that a new postconviction proceeding may be authorized where the facts to support an alleged constitutional violation could not have been discovered with due diligence in order for a claim to have been timely asserted. The appellant

has not alleged any such facts in this case. The denial of his Motion to Dismiss Counsel occurred in December, 1987, and was obviously known to the appellant and his attorneys prior to the filing of the initial 3.850 motion (in October, 1988), as well as several proceedings in this Court. Although the appellant challenged the adequacy of his initial 3.850 proceeding in a *pro se* petition for habeas corpus filed in the trial court and appealed the denial of that petition to this Court, he never sought review of the denial of his motion to dismiss CCR. The appellant also spent seven years litigating various claims in federal court without ever alleging a violation of his right to represent himself.

A review of the history of this case reflects that there have been several occasions when the appellant has represented himself in different courts. He has never had a *pro se* pleading that was stricken, or that was refused filing. In fact, two *pro se* proceedings have been considered on their merits in this Court. See, Lambrix v. Dugger, 529 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 1988); Lambrix, 559 So. 2d at 1137. Thus, his current contention that "since Mr. Lambrix had been precluded from representing himself, there was no way for him to raise the issue" (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 11) is mistaken. Furthermore, at the hearing on the motion to dismiss CCR as collateral counsel, Lambrix was advised by the trial judge that he could file any *pro se* pleadings in anticipation of the court's granting his motion to dismiss counsel (Initial Brief of Appellant, App. B, at T. 42), yet no *pro se* postconviction motion was ever filed.

The appellant's reliance on <u>Parker</u> and <u>Breedlove</u> is similarly unpersuasive. In those cases, postconviction motions were filed by the same attorneys that had represented the defendants at trial, and therefore could not raise issues relating to the performance of trial counsel. Under those unique circumstances, this Court has chosen to "overlook" any procedural default as to claims of

ineffective assistance of trial counsel. In the instant case, the appellant was represented at trial by Kinley Engalvson and Robert Jacobs; his initial 3.850 motion was filed by Billy Nolas of CCR. The initial 3.850 motion did allege that the appellant had been denied effective assistance of counsel on several grounds. The current 3.850 motion simply adds new factual bases, and in some respects reargues the old factual bases, to the appellant's prior ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Adding new issues to a previously raised and denied ineffective assistance of counsel claim is clearly prohibited. See, <u>Lambrix v. Singletary</u>, 641 So. 2d 847, 848 (Fla. 1994); <u>Aldridge v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1987).

To the extent that the appellant alleges CCR was ineffective for failing to argue error in the trial court's denial of his Motion to Dismiss Counsel in the appeal of the initial 3.850 motion, his argument is obviously without merit. First of all, the denial of the motion to dismiss counsel was not part of the initial 3.850 proceeding — the motion was denied in December, 1987 and the initial 3.850 was filed in October, 1988. More importantly, the appellant is now asking this Court to apply <u>Durocher</u> retroactively, an argument which could not have been presented in 1988 since <u>Durocher</u> was not decided until 1993. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to anticipate changes in the law. <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So. 2d 313, 317 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u> \_\_\_\_, 113 S. Ct. 1891, 123 L. Ed. 2d 507 (1993).

Finally, the appellant's assertion that consideration of his current 3.850 motion on its merits "merely places Mr. Lambrix in the same position that he would have been in the absence of the violation of his right to self-representation" (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 10) is inaccurate. Had the appellant's motion to dismiss counsel been granted in 1987, he would have been required to file a *pro se* motion in accordance with the law in effect at that time. His current 3.850 is a

counsel-generated document which relies heavily on changes in the law favorable to the appellant that occurred well after any *pro se* motion could have been filed. In fact, Lambrix would have been disadvantaged had his motion to dismiss counsel been granted, since he has continued to file (and have considered) *pro se* proceedings in the trial court and in this Court, as well as having the benefit of CCR and, since 1989, his current volunteer counsel.

If the appellant is deemed to have suffered a violation of his constitutional right to represent himself, the remedy would be consideration of any *pro se* claims which he timely identified as wanting to include in his initial 3.850 motion. In his *pro se* petition for writ of habeas corpus, he identified one such claim -- an allegation of juror misconduct. In the appeal from the denial of that petition, this Court considered and rejected the merits of that claim. Lambrix, 559 So. 2d at 1138. Thus, to the extent any possible constitutional violation could be discerned on these facts, Lambrix has already been afforded his remedy, and no further relief was then or is now warranted.

B. Alleged deprivation of the appellant's right to effective assistance of collateral counsel in his initial motion for postconviction relief

The appellant's suggestion that the lack of effective assistance of collateral counsel may entitle a capital defendant to another opportunity to present claims which reasonably should have been presented in an initial motion for postconviction relief is not persuasive. There is clearly no constitutional right to collateral counsel, and therefore any alleged lack of effective assistance of counsel in postconviction proceedings cannot create any right to file a successive motion seeking postconviction relief. See, Keeney v. Tamayo-Reyes, 504 U.S. 1, 112 S. Ct. 1715, 118 L. Ed.

2d 318, 330, n. 5 (1992); Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S. Ct. 2765, 106 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1989). And, although <u>Durocher</u>, 623 So. 2d at 483, discussed the *statutory* right to collateral counsel for capital defendants, this Court also reiterated that the statute creating the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative "did not add anything to the substantive state-law or constitutional rights" of capital defendants. <u>Id.</u>, at 483; <u>Troedel v. State</u>, 479 So. 2d 736, 737 (Fla. 1985).

The appellant's reliance on Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995), as securing the right to file successive postconviction motions if initial collateral counsel failed to provide constitutionally adequate representation is misplaced. Spaziano involved a highly unusual factual situation, in that an attorney that initially represented Spaziano through CCR had left CCR but wanted to continue his representation at state expense. In an attempt to accommodate Michael Mello, CCR and Spaziano, this Court ruled that CCR had primary responsibility for representation, but that Mello could continue as counsel with assistance from CCR. Mello was apparently not pleased with this decision and thereafter admitted that he would not abide by this Court's rulings or represent Spaziano at the evidentiary hearing. This Court accepted these admissions as an effective withdrawal from Spaziano's case. This Court's rejection of Mello's presumptuous "I'll do it my way but make the state pay" position should not be read as creating a constitutional right to effective assistance of collateral counsel.

Furthermore, the appellant's suggestion that a right to effective collateral counsel may arise from the due process clause in accordance with Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821 (1985), has previously been rejected by the United States Supreme Court. In Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S. Ct. 1990, 95 L. Ed. 2d 539 (1987), the Court

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